
 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages. 

 

 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Agenda 
 
Tuesday, 30 November 2021 
7.00 pm, Council Chamber, Civic Suite - the public are welcome to observe 
via the Council's website at https://lewisham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 
Civic Suite 
Lewisham Town Hall 
London SE6 4RU 
 
For more information contact: Charlotte Dale (020 8314 8286) 
 
This meeting is an open meeting and all items on the agenda may be audio 
recorded and/or filmed. 
 
 

Part 1 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2021 

 
1 - 4 

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

5 - 8 

3.   Future Lewisham: A Greener Future / Update on 
Lewisham's Climate Emergency Action Plan 
 

9 - 27 

4.   Update on Improving the Resident Experience 
 

28 - 48 

Public Document Pack



 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Members 

 
Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting 
to be held on Tuesday, 30 November 2021.  
 
Kim Wright, Chief Executive 

Monday 22 November 2021 
 
  

Councillor Paul Maslin (Chair)  

Councillor Octavia Holland (Vice-
Chair) 

 

Councillor Obajimi Adefiranye  

Councillor Tauseef Anwar  

Councillor Peter Bernards  

Councillor Bill Brown  

Councillor Juliet Campbell  

Councillor Suzannah Clarke  

Councillor Liam Curran  

Councillor Sophie Davis  

Councillor Colin Elliott  

Councillor Aisling Gallagher  

Councillor Leo Gibbons  

Councillor Alan Hall  

Councillor Carl Handley  

Councillor Coral Howard  

Councillor Mark Ingleby  

Councillor Liz Johnston-Franklin  

Councillor Caroline Kalu  



 

Councillor Silvana Kelleher  

Councillor Louise Krupski  

Councillor Samantha Latouche  

Councillor Jack Lavery  

Councillor Jim Mallory  

Councillor Joan Millbank  

Councillor Hilary Moore  

Councillor Pauline Morrison  

Councillor John Muldoon  

Councillor Olurotimi Ogunbadewa  

Councillor Rachel Onikosi  

Councillor Lionel Openshaw  

Councillor Jacq Paschoud  

Councillor John Paschoud  

Councillor Stephen Penfold  

Councillor James Rathbone  

Councillor Joani Reid  

Councillor James Royston  

Councillor Sakina Sheikh  

Councillor Jonathan Slater  

Councillor Alan Smith  

Councillor Luke Sorba  

Councillor Eva Stamirowski  

Councillor James-J Walsh  

Councillor Susan Wise  
  

   



 

 



 

 

 

 
 

MINUTES OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Thursday, 9 September 2021 at 7.00 pm 
 

 
PRESENT IN PERSON:  Councillors Paul Maslin (Chair), Tauseef Anwar, Peter 
Bernards, Bill Brown, Mark Ingleby, Jack Lavery, John Muldoon, Olurotimi Ogunbadewa, 
Rachel Onikosi, Jacq Paschoud, Stephen Penfold, James Rathbone, Luke Sorba, and 
James-J Walsh 
 
PRESENT REMOTELY: Councillors Octavia Holland (Vice-Chair), Juliet Campbell, 
Suzannah Clarke, Colin Elliott, Coral Howard, Liz Johnston-Franklin, Caroline Kalu, 
Silvana Kelleher, Louise Krupski, Samantha Latouche, Jim Mallory, Joan Millbank, Lionel 
Openshaw, John Paschoud, Joani Reid, James Royston, Sakina Sheikh, and Susan 
Wise 
 
APOLOGIES: Councillors Obajimi Adefiranye, Aisling Gallagher, Leo Gibbons, Hilary 
Moore, Jonathan Slater, Alan Smith and Eva Stamirowski 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Charlotte Dale (Head of Overview and Scrutiny), Murray James 
(Director of IT and Digital Services), Salena Mulhere (Assistant Chief Executive), 
Stephen Gerrard (Interim Director of Law and Governance), Emma Talbot (Director of 
Planning), Kim Wright (Chief Executive), Atika Mohammed (Head of Insight, 
Transformation & OD), Councillor Kevin Bonavia (Cabinet Member for Democracy, 
Refugees & Accountability) and Councillor Amanda De Ryk (Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Resources) 
 
 
1. Minutes of the meetings held on 10 November 2020; 26 May 2021; and 21 

July 2021 
 
1.1 RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meetings held on 10 November 2020; 

26 May 2021; and 21 July 2021 be agreed as accurate records of 
proceedings. 

 
2. Declaration of Interests 

 
2.1 None. 
 

3. Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 
 
3.1 RESOLVED: That the response be noted. 
 

4. Membership of Task and Finish Groups 
 
4.1 RESOLVED: That Councillor Sophie Davis be appointed to the Retrofit Task 

and Finish Group. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



 

 
 
 

2 

5. Improving the Resident Experience 
 

5.1 The Chair introduced the item, followed by Councillor Walsh, who had led on 

the development of this piece of scrutiny work. Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 

Cabinet Member for Democracy, Refugees and Accountability (with 

responsibility for customer services and complaints and the council’s digital 

strategy) then made a short introduction. Salena Mulhere, Assistant Chief 

Executive; and Atika Mohammed, Head of Insight, Transformation & 

Organisational Development, introduced the report. 

 

5.2 A call for evidence had been sent to Members in advance of the meeting, 

posing three central questions and asking for submissions on these areas of 

focus. The submissions had been collated and summarised at appendix 1 to 

the report; and it was noted that the information provided would be taken 

forward as part of the programme. 

 

5.3 31ten were invited to give a presentation on improving the resident experience. It 

was noted that they had recently produced a report - “Service Transformation 

Savings Research” - jointly with London Councils, which was included in the 

meeting papers. Their presentation covered trends across the public service 

sector and in the private sector; and the influence of technology on resident 

expectations and digital inclusion, which would be a key consideration when 

developing Lewisham’s programme. 

 

5.4 In the discussion that followed, Members of the Committee made a number of 

points and observations: 

 

 The importance of residents having a phone option as well as a digital 

option when contacting the council – and the ability to speak to a live 

individual (either on the phone or via a walk-in service) if required.  

 Getting the balance right between in person, telephone, digital 

services and making each channel as effective as possible for 

residents. 

 The importance of digital inclusion and ensuring that everyone who 

wants to be in the digital space can be. 

 Making sure that there is an option for all transactions can be carried out 

online (such as paying business rates). 

 Concern at the efficacy of the Council’s automated telephone 

switchboard. It was reported that the system regularly failed to put 

callers through to the right service area and had difficulty in 

understanding the wide range of accents that Lewisham residents 

possess.  

 The need to ensure that the ‘new normal’ is fully fleshed out and 

supported; and that temporary changes, such as increases in 

response times, are reassessed and revert back to pre-Covid levels, if 

appropriate. Recognition that new ways of working were developed 

quickly, so are not perfect, and now need to be improved. 

Page 2



 

 
 
 

3 

 Ensuring staff voicemail is checked and inboxes emptied before they are 

full. 

 The possibility of good and effective systems (such as ‘fix my street’) 

being extended to other service areas. 

 The possibility of the council developing Apps for some services. 

 Ensuring that people in the community whose first language is not English 

or who have only recently arrived in the country and are not used to 

navigating British systems, benefit from comprehensive and accessible 

signposting to services. Utilising cultural and faith groups - and community 

leaders. 

 The importance of consulting residents and businesses on the design of 

services. How will they be consulted? 

 Ensuring appropriate channels for communication between councillors 

and residents (e.g. Members should not be expected to carry out 

casework via social media). 

 Making sure that Members are sighted on customer service issues and 

are supported and enabled to raise matters relating to the resident 

experience of service delivery – and that this is considered as part of 

the programme. 

 The importance of using local hubs for the delivery of services. Do we 

want a “15 minute” borough? How can we take the needs of all local 

communities into account, involving the voluntary and community 

sector, local businesses and partners? 

 Ensuring that staff are supported and invested in. 

 
5.5 Salena Mulhere acknowledged that sustained service delivery improvements 

were required and that this was something that the organisation’s leadership 

was committed to, which was why the resident experience programme was 

being developed. She expressed her belief that the culture and commitment 

of staff was outstanding and that the organisation had the capacity to 

transform the delivery of services. 

 

5.6 Councillor Bonavia acknowledged the views expressed by Members, the 

barriers to good service delivery that existed, and the importance of treating 

residents as individuals with individual needs. 

 

5.7 Councillor Walsh summarised the discussion and proposed a series of 

recommendations which were agreed by the Committee. 

 

5.8 RESOLVED: That: 

 
1. The key issues raised by Members at the meeting be noted and taken on 

board as part of the resident experience programme. 

 

2. Officers review, as part of the resident experience programme: 

 

Page 3



 

 
 
 

4 

(a) the pathways and gateways for members to raise cases (first-stage and 

escalated) to departments; and 

(b) member casework digital systems, to ensure they are working for all 

stakeholders, including members. 

 

3. A series of Member-led, themed workshops be held to examine in detail the 

key themes raised by Members, to help shape the resident experience 

programme.  

 

4. Prior to the workshops, to inform Member thinking, a facilitated session be 
held with councillors to really understand and focus on how our services can 
be reshaped with residents at the centre. 
 

5. The Chair of Overview and Scrutiny write to the Chief Executive to request 
an urgent review of the Council’s automated telephone system, to assess its 
usability, with the results reported back to Members of the Committee. 

 

6. An update report be received at the next meeting, feeding back on the above 

recommendations; and their impact on the resident experience programme. 

 
 
The meeting ended at 8.40 pm 
 
 
Chair:  
 ---------------------------------------------------- 
 
Date: 
 ---------------------------------------------------- 

Page 4



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

1. Summary 

1.1. Members must declare any personal interest they have in any item on the agenda. There 
are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member Code of 
Conduct: 

(1)  Disclosable pecuniary interests 

(2)  Other registerable interests 

(3)  Non-registerable interests. 

1.2. Further information on these is provided in the body of this report. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1. Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the 
agenda. 

Declarations of Interest 

Date: 30 November 2021 

Key decision: No  

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Chief Executive (Director of Law and Governance) 

 

) 

Outline and recommendations 

Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the 
agenda. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



  

3. Disclosable pecuniary interests  

3.1 These are defined by regulation as: 

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or gain 

(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than by the 
Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the register in 
respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member or towards 
your election expenses (including payment or financial benefit  from a Trade 
Union). 

(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they are a 
partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of 
which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, services or works. 

(d)  Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 

(e)  Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 

(f)   Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the 
Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a 
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which 
they have a beneficial interest.   

(g)   Beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 

(a)  that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land in the 
borough; and  

(b)  either: 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or 

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person* 
has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued share capital of 
that class. 

*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person 
with whom they live as spouse or civil partner.  

4. Other registerable interests 

4.1 The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the following 
interests: 

(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you were 
appointed or nominated by the Council 

(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 
purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or 
policy, including any political party 

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 
value of at least £25. 

Page 6



  

5. Non registerable interests 

5.1. Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely to 
affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more than it 
would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is not required 
to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a matter concerning 
the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends).  

6. Declaration and impact of interest on members’ participation 

6.1. Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are present at a 
meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must declare the nature of the 
interest at the earliest opportunity and in any event before the matter is considered. The 
declaration will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest the member must take not part in consideration of the matter and 
withdraw from the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to 
influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest which has not 
already been entered in the Register of Members’ Interests, or participation where 
such an interest exists, is liable to prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of 
up to £5000  
 

6.2. Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest they must still declare the nature of the interest to the meeting at the earliest 
opportunity and in any event before the matter is considered, but they may stay in the 
room, participate in consideration of the matter and vote on it unless paragraph 6.3 
below applies. 

6.3. Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, the member must consider whether a reasonable member of the public in 
possession of the facts would think that their interest is so significant that it would be 
likely to impair the member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must 
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to influence the 
outcome improperly. 

6.4. If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a member, their, 
family, friend or close associate more than it would affect those in the local area 
generally, then the provisions relating to the declarations of interest and withdrawal apply 
as if it were a registerable interest.   

6.5. Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s personal judgement, 
though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer. 

7. Sensitive information  

7.1. There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not be 
registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and advised to seek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

8.  Exempt categories 

8.1. There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in decisions 
notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. These include:- 

(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter relates 
to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception) 

(b)  School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent or 

Page 7



  

guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless the matter 
relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which you are a 
governor 

(c)   Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 

(d)   Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  

(e)  Ceremonial honours for members 

(f)   Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception). 

9.  Report author and contact  
 

9.1.  Jeremy Chambers, Director of Law, Governance and Elections, 020 83147648, 
Jeremy.Chambers@lewisham.gov.uk,  

 

Page 8

mailto:Jeremy.Chambers@lewisham.gov.uk


 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Future Lewisham: A Greener Future 
Update on Lewisham’s Climate Emergency Action Plan   

Date: 30 November 2021 

Key decision: No.  

Class: Part 1 

Ward(s) affected: All  

Contributors: Climate Resilience Manager 

Agenda and outline  

This report supports discussion at Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s meeting on Future 
Lewisham: A Greener Future. The report gives an update on delivery of Lewisham’s 
Climate Emergency Action Plan, and sets this in the context of wider environmental 
considerations and service delivery across the Council. 

The agenda for Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s meeting on Future Lewisham: A 
Greener Future includes wider work across the sector at a national and borough level.   

Agenda 

1) Welcome and introduction (Cllr Krupski / Cllr Penfold) 

2) Expert witness one 

Accelerating climate action: the UK100 network of local government leaders 
(Christopher Hammond, Network Membership Director UK100) 

3) Expert witness two 

Goldsmiths’ work on climate emergency (Professor Frances Corner, Warden 
Goldsmiths University of London)  

4) A Greener Future: update on Lewisham’s Climate Emergency Action Plan (Martin 
O’Brien, Climate Resilience Manager, Lewisham Council) 

5) Committee to agree recommendations (and make a referral to Mayor and Cabinet if 
required) 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

1. Summary 

1.1 This report outlines the connections between the climate emergency and the theme of 
‘Future Lewisham: A Greener Future’ with reference to the wider work of the Council. 
The report sets the policy context, summarises data on carbon emissions and 
describes current priorities and risks in delivering on the climate emergency.  

1.2 The ambition for Lewisham to be carbon neutral by 2030 is hugely challenging.  
Carbon emissions in the borough have reduced considerably since 2005, in line with 
the rest of the UK, but the next phase of action needed: decarbonising the way we heat 
our homes and how we travel, has more direct consequences for Lewisham’s 
residents, businesses and other organisations working in the borough. 

1.3 Lewisham’s Climate Emergency Action Plan was written and approved just as the 
pandemic started.  While COVID-19 has had an impact on delivery, progress has been 
made, particularly in relation to accessing new funding for retrofit work on our  
corporate estate, schools and Lewisham Homes properties.  

1.4 The biggest impacts of climate change will be on low income and vulnerable people 
here in the borough and across the planet. The benefits in taking action are clear, not 
just in preventing the human and financial costs, but also through creating jobs, 
improving health and quality of life and improving our local environment. Delivery of net 
zero carbon requires fundamental changes to infrastructure, the economy and our 
lifestyles. Local authorities have a central role to play in ensuring that those changes 
benefit those who are already disadvantaged and are delivered with equalities 
considerations at their heart.  

1.5 Meeting the ambition of ‘Future Lewisham: A Greener Future’ can only be achieved if it 
is an integral part of how the Council operates.  Lewisham councillors and the scrutiny 
process has a fundamental role to play in making that cultural transformation happen.  

 

  

Timeline of engagement and decision-making 

In February 2019 councillors agreed a motion to declare a ‘climate emergency’ and ask 
officers to develop an action plan aiming to make the borough carbon neutral by 2030. 
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s62942/Motion%202%20proposed%2
0Cllr%20Anwar%20seconded%20Cllr%20Krupski.pdf   

Mayor and Cabinet agreed Lewisham’s Climate Emergency Action Plan on 11 March 2020. 
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s81350/Climate%20Emergency%20Ac
tion%20Plan.pdf     

Mayor and Cabinet discussed an update on the Action Plan on 10 March 2021. 
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s78637/Lewishams%20Climate%20E
mergency%20Action%20Plan.pdf  

Sustainable Development Select Committee is scheduled to review progress on 
Lewisham’s Climate Emergency Action Plan in January 2022. 

Mayor and Cabinet is scheduled to review progress on Lewisham’s Climate Emergency 
Action Plan in March 2022. 

Page 10

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s62942/Motion%202%20proposed%20Cllr%20Anwar%20seconded%20Cllr%20Krupski.pdf
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s62942/Motion%202%20proposed%20Cllr%20Anwar%20seconded%20Cllr%20Krupski.pdf
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s81350/Climate%20Emergency%20Action%20Plan.pdf
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s81350/Climate%20Emergency%20Action%20Plan.pdf
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s78637/Lewishams%20Climate%20Emergency%20Action%20Plan.pdf
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s78637/Lewishams%20Climate%20Emergency%20Action%20Plan.pdf


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

2. Recommendations 

2.1 Overview and Scrutiny is invited to provide pre-scrutiny and insight to support the 
development of the theme of Future Lewisham: A Greener Future. The following 
questions are suggested to support the discussion of the Committee: 

 What should our aspirations be for ‘A Greener Future’? 

 What more could the Council do to work in partnership with others nationally, 
regionally and locally? 

 What is the role of councillors and the Council’s committee structures in delivering 
our environmental ambitions? (see Annex A below for an outline of the connections 
between the Council’s cabinet portfolios and the climate emergency) 

 How can councillors and committee structures be enabled to do this? 
 

3. Policy Context 

3.1 In 2016, the UK Government ratified the Paris Agreement, part of the United Nations 
Framework Convention on Climate Change, which commits countries to taking action 
to prevent the global average temperature increasing 2°C above pre-industrial levels. 
In 2018, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change highlighted the importance of 
holding global temperatures below 1.5°C and the significant increase in damage to 
health, the environment and the economy of a 2°C rise. 

3.2 In 2019 the Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order committed the 
UK to a legally binding target of net zero emissions by 2050.  

3.3 In August 2021 the International Panel on Climate Change published its latest 
assessment of the scientific basis for climate change, described by UN Secretary-
General António Guterres as a “code red warning for humanity”.  

3.4 In November 2021 the UK hosted COP26, the United Nations inter-governmental 
conference on climate change.  COP26 achieved progress in terms of global action on 
reducing coal, deforestation and methane emissions. There remains scepticism 
however that the conference achieved its main ambition of securing sufficient 
commitments to sustain the ambition of limiting warming to 1.5°C.   

3.5 Ahead of COP26 the Government published ‘Net Zero Strategy: Build Back Greener’ 
and the Heat and Buildings Strategy. These strategies confirmed the Government’s 
ambition to phase out new natural gas boilers beyond 2035 and includes funding for 
heat pumps, electric vehicles, offshore wind and hydrogen for heavy industry.  The 
strategies also include a commitment to ‘deliver cheaper electricity by rebalancing 
policy costs from electricity to gas bills’, with the promise of a call to evidence on 
‘Fairness and Affordability’, although the details of this have not yet been published.  

3.6 The Net Zero Strategy states ‘We want to continue to empower our local leaders to 
take the actions which will lead to the biggest gains in emissions reduction, including 
the potential opportunities in building back greener and meeting our ambitions to level 
up the country. While the COVID-19 pandemic has severely impacted our 
communities, it has also reshaped how we think about place, community, and our 
natural and built environment.’ The Strategy makes a commitment to set clearer 
expectations about how central and local government work together on net zero.  

3.7 London Councils through the Local Environment Directors Network and the Transport 
and Environment Committee (TEC) issued a joint statement on climate change in 2019 
and established a programme of seven cross-borough working groups: 

 Retrofit London: Retrofit all domestic and non-domestic buildings to an average 
level of EPC B.  

Page 11

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 Low carbon development: Secure low carbon buildings and infrastructure via 
borough planning.  

 Low carbon transport: Halve road journeys made by petrol and diesel. 

 Renewable power for London: Secure 100% renewable energy for London’s public 
sector. 

 Reduce consumption emissions: Reduce consumption emissions by two thirds. 

 Build the green economy: Develop London's low carbon sector and green our 
broader economy. 

 Creating a resilient and green London. 

3.7 Lewisham’s Corporate Strategy priority ‘Making Lewisham Greener’ includes the 
following commitments relating to energy: 

 We will maximise opportunities for energy efficiency in all council buildings and new 
developments;  

 We will explore working with publicly owned not-for profit energy suppliers that do 
not penalise poorer residents using prepay meters. 

3.8 The actions and the values of Lewisham’s Climate Emergency Action Plan support 
delivery of outcomes across the Corporate Strategy, in particular: 

 ‘Tackling the housing crisis’ and improved standards across all housing sectors 

 ‘Building an inclusive local economy’ and supporting the growth of a thriving local 
economy 

 ‘Making Lewisham greener’ and the increased use of environmentally friendly 
transport as well as better care for our local environment and planet.  

 

4. Future Lewisham: A Greener Future 

Lewisham context 

4.1 In his speech at the Council’s Annual General Meeting in May 2021 Lewisham’s Mayor 
outlined the Council’s priorities to support the borough’s recovery from the COVID-19 
pandemic.  Future Lewisham: our borough’s recovery sets out four themes at the heart 
of the Council’s response to the impact of the pandemic: 

 A greener future 

 A healthy and well future 

 An economically sound future 

 A future we all have a part in. 

4.2 The COVID-19 pandemic has underlined the inequalities in health and wealth within 
the borough and placed greater pressure on public services, the community sector and 
on many of the small, independent businesses that are fundamental to Lewisham’s 
local economy. Future Lewisham aims to shape the way the borough moves forward to 
recognise and respond to these challenges. A Greener Future is also about taking the 
opportunity to do things differently.  Lockdowns and changes to working and travel 
patterns brought a new-found appreciation of the local environment and a greater value 
placed on our green spaces and local air quality, as well as a strengthening of 
connections across local communities.  As a planning authority and through our 
management and investment in open spaces, the public realm and our own buildings 
the Council has a wealth of opportunities to influence the development of the borough 

Page 12

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

to deliver on the ambition for a greener future.  

4.3 There are many different strands to sustainability and the environment, including a 
range of different ways they are reflected in Council services.  Annex A at the end of 
this document seeks to map out different aspects of the climate emergency agenda 
across the Council’s cabinet portfolios.  There are a number of existing Council 
strategic documents that cover different aspects of the environment and sustainability 
including: 

 New draft Core Strategy 
https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/policy/adopted-local-plan/core-strategy  

  New draft Air Quality Action Plan 2022-27 https://lewisham.gov.uk/airquality  

 Lewisham’s Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 
https://lewisham.gov.uk/inmyarea/openspaces/parks-and-open-spaces-strategy  

 Lewisham Biodiversity Partnership’s new action plan ‘A Natural Renaissance 2021-
2026’ https://lewisham.gov.uk/articles/news/creating-a-greener-lewisham-new-
biodiversity-action-plan-endorsed  

 New draft Waste Strategy https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/wasterecycle  

 New draft Flood Risk Management Strategy 
https://consultation.lewisham.gov.uk/environment/local-flood-risk-managment-
strategy/  

 Catford Town Centre Framework 
https://lewisham.gov.uk/inmyarea/regeneration/catford-regeneration/catford-town-
centre-framework  

 Lewisham’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 
https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/environment/making-the-borough-carbon-
neutral-by-2030-climate-emergency-declaration  

International context 

4.4 The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) or Global Goals are a collection of 17 
interlinked global goals designed to be a "blueprint to achieve a better and more 
sustainable future for all". The SDGs were set up in 2015 by the United Nations 
General Assembly and are intended to be achieved by the year 2030.   

4.5 The SDGs separate out the different aspects of sustainability into meaningful concepts 
backed by measures and actions.  At the same time it is explicitly recognised that these 
strands are inexorably interwoven, and fundamentally, the SDGs emphasise the link 
between environmental justice and social justice. The full list of SDGs is set out in 
Annex B of this report but in the context of the climate emergency those most relevant 
are: 

 SDG 7: ensure access to affordable, reliable sustainable and modern energy for all 

 SDG 12: ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns 

 SDG 13: take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts 

4.5 ‘Doughnut economics’ is a concept that combines the different aspects of economic, 
social and environmental sustainability in seeking to understand how to build an 
economy that serves social needs without overtaxing the planet’s limited resources. 
Traditional economic theory is based on the idea that that money is the metric for 
wealth and that growth is a desirable end in itself.  The essence of the doughnut 
concept is that there is a social foundation of well-being that no one should fall below, 
and which needs to be resourced, but at the same time there is an ecological ceiling of 
planetary pressure that we should not go beyond.  The doughnut is based on the 

Page 13

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/policy/adopted-local-plan/core-strategy
https://lewisham.gov.uk/airquality
https://lewisham.gov.uk/inmyarea/openspaces/parks-and-open-spaces-strategy
https://lewisham.gov.uk/articles/news/creating-a-greener-lewisham-new-biodiversity-action-plan-endorsed
https://lewisham.gov.uk/articles/news/creating-a-greener-lewisham-new-biodiversity-action-plan-endorsed
https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/wasterecycle
https://consultation.lewisham.gov.uk/environment/local-flood-risk-managment-strategy/
https://consultation.lewisham.gov.uk/environment/local-flood-risk-managment-strategy/
https://lewisham.gov.uk/inmyarea/regeneration/catford-regeneration/catford-town-centre-framework
https://lewisham.gov.uk/inmyarea/regeneration/catford-regeneration/catford-town-centre-framework
https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/environment/making-the-borough-carbon-neutral-by-2030-climate-emergency-declaration
https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/environment/making-the-borough-carbon-neutral-by-2030-climate-emergency-declaration


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

concept that between the two lies a safe and just space for all.   In June 2020, the City 
of Copenhagen adopted this model as the basis for shaping the city’s future economy.  

4.6 The ’15-minute city’ is a model of sustainability popularised by the Mayor of Paris, 
Anne Hildago. The concept is based on the idea that everyone living in a city should 
have access to essential urban services such as education, food, health care, quality 
open spaces and so on within a short walk or bike ride. 15-minute cities are built from a 
series of 15-minute neighbourhoods, also known as complete communities or walkable 
neighbourhoods. The concept has been described as a "return to a local way of life”.  

5. Lewisham’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 

5.1 More than 230 local authorities including 28 London Boroughs and the Mayor of 
London have passed 'climate emergency declarations' since 2019.  Lewisham’s Mayor 
and Cabinet agreed Lewisham’s Climate Emergency Action Plan on 11 March 2020 
setting out a range of actions by the Council and others in support of the ambition for 
Lewisham to be carbon neutral by 2030. 

5.2 Lewisham’s Climate Emergency Action Plan was structured across the following 5 
themes: 

 Leading by Example 

 Sustainable Housing 

 Decarbonised Transport 

 Greener Adaptive Lewisham 

 Inspiring, Learning and Lobbying 

5.3 Lewisham’s Action Plan was informed by an analysis that developed a range of 
scenarios designed to deliver the net zero ambition, creating a model of costed 
programmes of work where the potential carbon savings were quantified.  The study 
estimated the cost of projects needed to reach net zero carbon as being a minimum of 
£1.6bn.  

5.4 Lewisham’s Climate Emergency Action Plan was developed pre-pandemic and 
approved days before the UK’s first lockdown was put in place on 23 March 2020. 
While COVID-19 has changed the nature of some of the planned actions, progress has 
been made. Above all, the principles that underpin our work on climate emergency 
remain as relevant, if not more so, now than they were on the 11 March 2020.  These 
principles are: 

 The scale of threat from climate change requires us to be ambitious; 

 Action on climate change is action on social justice; 

 Delivery on a climate change agenda has the potential to deliver positive outcomes 
for jobs and the local economy, health and wellbeing, and wider environmental 
benefits;  

 The Council needs to demonstrate leadership through its own operations;  

 Delivering our ambition to be carbon neutral by 2030 can only be achieved through 
concerted collective action at all levels of society; 

 

  

Page 14

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

6. Data 

6.1 The Department of Business Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) publishes annual 
data on carbon emissions at a local authority level1.  This dataset shows a 37% 
reduction in annual carbon emissions in Lewisham from the baseline in 20052, a trend 
similar to the pattern nationally.  The main factor driving this reduction has been 
decarbonisation of the electricity grid supplying homes and businesses as a result of 
investment in renewable energy production at a national level. 

6.2 Lewisham’s 2019 emissions from the BEIS data are shown in Table 1 below.  

Carbon source Kt CO2e % Sub elements Kt CO2e % 

Housing 345.4 46.9% Gas 257.7 35.0 

Electricity 83.8 11.4 

Other 3.9 0.5 

Transport 
 

255.2 34.7% Road transport 253.3 34.4 

Other transport 1.9 0.3 

Industry & Commercial 135.6 18.4% Commercial 82.5 11.2 

Industry 18.3 2.5 

Public sector 34.8 4.7 

Land use & green infrastructure -1.4   -1.4  

TOTAL 734.8 100%  734.8 100% 
Table 1: Lewisham carbon emissions 2019 disaggregated by source (BEIS 2021) 

 

6.3 The two main sources of carbon emissions on this measure are domestic gas and road 
transport, which together are 70% of the borough’s emissions. Continued progress 
towards net zero carbon is going to require more localised changes to decarbonise the 
way we heat our homes and transport systems. This will require major investment, the 
navigation of a series of logistical challenges and has significant implications in terms 
of equalities.  

6.4 The BEIS data is based on emissions that can be measured within the boundary of the 
borough.  However this does not account for emissions resulting from the purchase of 
goods and services, or from travel by Lewisham residents and businesses outside the 
borough.  Officers have been part of London-wide work to understand and quantify 
these ‘consumption’ emissions3.  This data suggests that the borough’s consumption 
emissions are more than three times those measured by the BEIS data4.  

  

                                                

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-
national-statistics-2005-to-2019  
2 Lewisham 2005 baseline 1,161.1 kt CO2e; Lewisham 2019 data (reported in Jun 2021) 426.3 kt CO2e 
3 https://beta.londoncouncils.gov.uk/news/2021/consumption-based-emissions-london-boroughs-have-
reduced-not-fast-enough-meet-emission  
4 Total consumption emissions in Lewisham (2018) are 2,518 kt CO2e compared to the BEIS figure of 
747.8 kt CO2e for the equivalent year in their latest emissions data 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/9960
57/2005-19_UK_local_and_regional_CO2_emissions.xlsx  

Page 15

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2019
https://beta.londoncouncils.gov.uk/news/2021/consumption-based-emissions-london-boroughs-have-reduced-not-fast-enough-meet-emission
https://beta.londoncouncils.gov.uk/news/2021/consumption-based-emissions-london-boroughs-have-reduced-not-fast-enough-meet-emission
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/996057/2005-19_UK_local_and_regional_CO2_emissions.xlsx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/996057/2005-19_UK_local_and_regional_CO2_emissions.xlsx


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

6.5 Table 2 shows sources of emissions measured by the consumption emissions dataset. 

Sector Kt CO2e % Subcategories Kt CO2e % 

Transport 885 35.1% Road fuel 279 11.1% 

Season tickets 248 9.8% 

Air 121 4.8% 

Other transport 237 9.4% 

Housing  721 28.6% Gas 432 17.2% 

Electric 151 6.0% 

Other 138 5.5% 

Recreation 301 12.0% Restaurants/cafes 57 2.3% 

Pubs/bars 29 1.2% 

Holiday abroad 24 1.0% 

Holiday UK 14 0.6% 

Other recreation 177 7.0% 

Food and drink 286 11.4% Meat 182 7.2% 

Dairy/eggs 21 0.8% 

Other food and drink 97 3.9% 

Other goods and 
services 

174 6.9% Education 51 2.0% 

Communications and 
mobiles 

15 0.6% 

Childcare 16 0.6% 

Hairdressing and beauty 14 0.6% 

Other misc 78 3.1% 

Furnishings and 
appliances 

97 3.8% Furniture 17 0.7% 

Kitchenware 8 0.3% 

Other appliances 72 2.9% 

Clothing and footwear 55 2.2% Clothing 36 1.4% 

Footwear 13 0.5% 

Accessories 6 0.2% 

TOTAL 2,518 100%    
Table 2: Lewisham consumption emissions 2018 disaggregated by source (University of Leeds 2021) 

 

6.6 Transport and Housing are the biggest sources of carbon emissions within the 
consumption emissions data, but their positions have changed, due to the inclusion of 
travel beyond the borough boundary such as flying. Domestic gas remains the single 
most significant source of emissions but is 17.2% of the total compared to 30% in the 
BEIS data.  The rest of the top five individual sources are: road fuel (11.1%); 
‘Combined fares season tickets’ (9.8%); other transport (9.4%) and meat (7.2%). 

6.7 Further work is needed to refine the ‘consumption emissions’ data but initial insights 
from this work are: 

 that total emissions from goods and services purchased by Lewisham residents 
and organisations are significantly higher than emissions measured solely within 
the borough boundary; 

 there is consistency with the BEIS data in relation to the importance of investment 
in infrastructure to improve housing, decarbonise gas, promote active travel and 
eliminate vehicles powered by fossil fuels from our roads; 

 the data also offers some insight in the areas where meaningful reductions can be 
achieved in other aspects of our lives beyond housing and transport.    

 

Page 16

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

7. Funding 

7.1 Lewisham’s ‘Trajectory Study’ that underpinned the development of Lewisham’s 
Climate Emergency Action Plan estimated that the cost of delivering the ambition to be 
net zero by 2030 was at least £1.6bn.  There are however no new sources of funding 
or powers available to local authorities that declare a climate emergency.   

7.2 The 2019 Conservative election manifesto included commitments for £9bn funding for 
energy efficiency.  The full details of this spend have not be defined but there have 
been a number of new programmes created in the last 18 months including: 

 The Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund, grants to public sector bodies to fund heat 
decarbonisation and energy efficiency measures. Phase 1 awarded £1bn funding 
and Phase 2 £75m.  £1.425m is available in Phase 3 which is expected to run to 
2024/25.  Lewisham Council was awarded £3.5m in Phase 1 (details below).  

 The Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund, £3.8m over 10 years, funding 
improvements to the energy performance of social rented homes. £160m was 
available under Wave 1, which had a closing date of 15 October 2021.  

 In July 2020 the Government launched a £2bn Green Homes Grant scheme, with 
£500m available to local authorities to fund energy efficiency for low income 
households.  The main Green Homes Grant voucher scheme closed in March 2021 
having delivered work in less than 10% of the 600,000 homes originally intended. 
The Local Authority Delivery scheme (LAD) is continuing.  £200m funding was 
awarded in LAD Round 1, £300m funding in Round 2 and a further £200m in Round 
3 along with £150m under the Home Upgrade Grant for off gas properties in a 
combined funding stream titled Sustainable Warmth. Lewisham Council was 
awarded £825,000 in round 1 (details below) and is part of consortia at a London 
level that received funding in Round 2 and under Sustainable Warmth.  

 In October 2021 the Government’s Heat and Buildings Strategy announced a new 
£450m Boiler Upgrade Scheme to support households switching to low-carbon heat 
pumps with £5,000 grants.  Details of this fund are expected in 2022.  

 

8. Priorities 

8.1 The following priorities are based on the principles underpinning the Climate 
Emergency Action Plan, the data on carbon emissions in Lewisham, the new funding 
opportunities that have emerged over the last 18 months and the changing nature of 
the way the Council and partner organisations are operating through the pandemic. 
The Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan sets out the breadth of activity on 
carbon reduction and climate change across the Council’s services, and the following 
analysis does not include all current activity but seeks to present the key strategic and 
operational priorities.   

Housing retrofit  

8.2 The scale of retrofitting needed to get the borough’s housing stock to a standard 
consistent with achieving net zero carbon is enormous. It is also a once in a generation 
opportunity to tackle fuel poverty.  The priorities for housing retrofit in the borough are 
based on a worst first and fabric first approach that brings external funding into 
Lewisham to benefit our residents and deliver wider economic opportunities. The 
priorities in relation to housing retrofit are: 

 Investment in Lewisham Homes’ managed stock 

 raising standards in the private rental sector  

Page 17

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 local skills and employment opportunities 

8.3 Lewisham Homes have undertaken an assessment of the investment needed to raise 
the minimum energy performance level of their stock to support the net zero carbon 
target. This work will inform a joint Asset Management Strategy between the Council 
and Lewisham Homes. Officers in the Council and Lewisham Homes are also working 
closely to maximise opportunities to bring in external funding to support this work. In 
March 2021 Lewisham Council was awarded £825k under the Government’s Green 
Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery to deliver window upgrades and solid wall 
insulation.  A bid for further funding has been submitted under Wave 1 of the Social 
Housing Decarbonisation Fund. 

8.4 In August 2021 officers secured £125k funding under a Government competition to 
boost engagement and enforcement work on the Private Rental Sector Minimum 
Energy Efficiency Standards. This funding will support additional capacity in Crime 
Enforcement Teams and an engagement campaign to raise awareness of the legally 
enforceable minimum standards that exist and support landlords to improve their 
properties.  

8.5 Lewisham is a member of the Greater London Authority consortium that has received 
funding from the Local Authority Delivery scheme funding heating, insulation and 
ventilation measures for low income households living in qualifying properties.  
Lewisham’s fuel poverty advice service (see below) is supporting Lewisham 
households to benefit from this funding.  

8.6  A new officer post has been created working across Lewisham, Southwark and 
Lambeth on a programme of work to boost the local economic impact of retrofit.  This is 
has also been a focus of the Lewisham Deal which brings together the Council, 
Lewisham Homes, Phoenix Community Housing, Lewisham College, Goldsmiths and 
Lewisham Hospital.  

8.7 Officers are engaging with the Sustainable Development Select Committee and the 
Task & Finish Group looking at housing retrofit – the latter is expected to make 
recommendations by March 2022.  Our priorities and projects on housing retrofit will be 
reviewed in the light of the recommendations.  

Support for households at risk of fuel poverty  

8.8 Lewisham’s energy advice service provides practical support to vulnerable residents 
helping them cut the cost of staying warm in winter.  In 2019 we expanded the service 
to the whole of South London, working in partnership with other boroughs and 
community groups.  In the last 2 years the South London Energy Efficiency 
Partnership, led by Lewisham, has supported over 5,000 low income and vulnerable 
households and secured funding in excess of £0.5m.  

Low carbon heating 

8.9 Most homes and businesses in the borough are reliant on fossil fuel gas for heating 
and hot water and decarbonising this heating will be a huge challenge.  Retrofitting 
existing housing stock is the first phase of work needed to enable the switch to zero 
carbon technologies.  Officers have accessed external funding to deliver energy 
masterplanning across the borough, which will support heat decarbonisation through 
district heat networks.  This masterplanning reinforces the Local Plan policies for 
carbon reduction and will inform and influence energy strategies for developments with 
the intention of aggregating heat demand created connections to decentralised sources 
of energy. The second phase of energy masterplanning, which completes this year, is 
producing detailed technical economic assessments for heat networks running in a 
spine through Catford to Lewisham and up to Deptford.  

8.10 In 2018 Lewisham and Veolia signed a Memorandum of Understanding to work in 

Page 18

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

partnership to develop opportunities for heat networks in the borough. In 2020 Veolia 
were awarded £5.5 million from BEIS to deliver a core network from SELCHP to 3,500 
homes in Convoys Wharf in Deptford.  Construction of the network is expected to start 
in 2021/22.  

Corporate carbon emissions  

8.11 ‘Leading by Example’ was one of the five themes within the Lewisham Climate 
Emergency Action Plan.  The current priorities on this work to decarbonise Council 
operations are:  

 retrofitting corporate sites 

 developing a longer term strategic approach to our assets  

 zero carbon schools programme 

 embedding cultural change including through the transition to new ways of working   

8.12 In March 2021 Lewisham Council was awarded £2.75m under the Government’s Public 
Sector Decarbonisation Scheme for works in seven corporate sites: Hither Green 
Crematorium; Town Hall Chambers; Brockley Rise, Grove Park and Granville Park 
Adult Learning Centres; and the Leemore and Sydenham Community Centres. The  
works, scheduled to complete by March 2022 include heat pumps, insulation, photo 
voltaic panels, heating controls, ventilation, glazing and lighting upgrades.  

8.13 The Catford Town Centre Framework Regeneration Masterplan published in 2021 
includes the ambition for Catford to be the greenest town centre in London.  The 
regeneration of Catford will create a new civic hub replacing the Council’s existing main 
corporate buildings and, alongside the Council’s development of a new strategic 
approach to corporate assets, will define our ability to deliver on the ambition for the 
Council to be net zero carbon.  

8.14 In 2020 Lewisham Council funded a holistic assessment of five Lewisham Schools 
designed to develop an understanding of the different building typologies as well as an 
engagement programme with the school community on wider sustainability and 
consumption emissions.  This net zero schools programme provided the basis for 
successfully bidding for £750k funding for heating, insulation and ventilation 
improvements in Myatt Garden, Dalmain and Downderry schools, that will cut carbon, 
make them more efficient to run and improve the quality of the indoor environment 
making them better spaces to learn and work in. Officers are working with schools to 
develop a new network of Lewisham schools on climate change, seeking new 
opportunities to fund further work. 

8.15 COVID-19 has had a long-term impact on the operation of the Council, reflected in the 
ethos of the Future Lewisham concept.  The Council’s Future Working programme is 
an ongoing piece of work designed to support delivery of the Future Lewisham aims 
and help staff through the transition.  Key recent achievements include the new 
Lewisham Sustainable Procurement Strategy 2021-25, which includes new 
requirements for tenderers to disclose carbon emissions and reshaping the Council’s 
pension fund to actively support low carbon investments.  

Communications and Engagement  

8.17 Since the Council directly controls just 3% of the carbon emissions measured within the 
borough delivery of the ambition to be carbon neutral by 2030 can only be achieved by 
working in partnership. The Council has a key role to play with the rest of the local 
government sector to push for the sustained investment needed, and, within the 
borough, to create opportunities for Lewisham residents and organisations to join 
forces and to inspire action. Building on the ‘Inspiring Learning and Lobbying’ section of 
the Lewisham Climate Emergency Action Plan our priorities on communications and 

Page 19

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

engagement are: 

 The Lewisham Climate Conversation 

 Borough of Culture 

8.18 In October in the lead up to COP26, the United Nations climate conference hosted by 
the UK, the Council launched a ‘Lewisham Climate Conversation’ encouraging  
residents and local organisations to engage in a discussion around the theme of 
climate change and the local environment.  The communications included a guide 
which was intended to be user friendly and flexible and to focus on the positive benefits 
of taking action.  The intention is to develop the ‘Lewisham Climate Conversation’ 
theme over the coming months.   

8.19 Climate emergency is one of the core strands of Lewisham’s Borough of Culture 2022.  
A diverse range of creative events and art works are in development, designed to 
showcase talent across Lewisham and boost cultural activism on climate change and 
the environment.  Our Lewisham Climate Conversation plans are designed to create 
impetus for a year-long series of Borough of Culture climate conversations.  

9. Risks  

The impact of climate change 

9.1 The 2021 International Panel on Climate Change “Code Red” assessment and the 
Climate Change Committee’s Third UK Climate Risk Independent Assessment 
definitively articulate that climate change and weather extremes are driven by human-
caused emissions and, without corrective action, the global warming experienced to 
date will continue with widespread social, environmental and economic consequences. 
These impacts are at the heart of the inequalities that will be the legacy of inaction.   

9.2 The Climate Change Committee’s Third UK Climate Risk Independent Assessment 
published in June 2021 was highly critical of preparations at a national level for the 
impacts of climate change.  The Committee’s conclusions were that the level of risk 
was now greater than the previous assessment in 2017, and that while the UK has the 
capacity and resources to respond it had not yet done so.  

9.3 Local authorities in England are designated Lead Local Flood Authorities under the 
Flood and Water Management Act, with statutory responsibilities to assess and 
respond to flood risk in partnership with other bodies including the Environment 
Agency, water companies and other Lead Local Flood Authorities.  A consultation on a 
new Lewisham Flood Risk Strategy has just ended with a view to a final document 
being published before the end of March 2022. In April 2021 Lewisham’s Borough 
Resilience Forum held a borough-wide simulation of a major flooding incident, testing 
an updated Multi-Agency Flooding Plan for Lewisham.  

9.4 The urban environment is at greater risk of extended periods of high temperatures as a 
result of climate change.  Lewisham’s Parks and Open Spaces Strategy sets out our 
strategic vision for urban greening, the Council’s new Air Quality strategy has been 
consulted on and Lewisham’s draft Core Strategy will raise standards in new build 
properties. Nevertheless there remains significant risk over the course of the 21st 
century in terms of the cost to human health and the public sector as a result of 
infrastructure and housing that cannot cope with long-term changes to temperatures 
and weather patterns.  

Funding 

9.5 The cost of delivering the ambition for Lewisham to be net zero carbon by 2030 has 
been estimated at a minimum of £1.6bn. In November 2020 the Government published 
a 10-point plan for a green industrial revolution proposing long-term investment of 
£12bn, while the Government’s Net Zero Strategy published in October 2021 outlines 

Page 20

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

expectations for £90bn private investment.  Most of this funding however is 
aspirational.  

9.6 The scale and pace of investment needed in infrastructure currently does not support 
delivery of the ambition to be net zero carbon and in particular is not currently in line 
with the target date of 2030. In relation to housing retrofit different strategies will be 
needed by tenure and the circumstances of the owner and those living in the property.  
While some funding is available for low income households in specific types of 
properties there is no overarching delivery mechanism that will retrofit homes in the 
borough at the scale needed.  

Equalities 

9.7 Section 4 of this report identifies the reductions in carbon emissions that have been 
achieved against the Government’s measure since 2005.  The cost of this work has 
increased electricity bills, but for many, carbon reductions to date have been achieved 
at a distance with no direct day-to-day impact.  Addressing the remaining significant 
sources of emissions will, of necessity, have a more local and direct impact, requiring 
changes to our homes and the way we travel.  There are big opportunities in this, to 
raise the standards of the worst housing and promote active travel, but fiscal and 
legislative changes will need to be carefully designed and implemented if they are not 
to disadvantage low income and vulnerable households.  

 

10. Financial implications  

10.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report but delivery of an 
ambitious programme to cut emissions across the Council’s corporate estate and the 
borough as a whole has potentially significant cost implications. Work undertaken to 
support the development of Lewisham’s Climate Emergency Action Plan estimated a 
minimum cost of £1.6bn over 10 years.  

10.2 Lewisham Council’s funding from government has been cut by over 58% since 
2013/14, while at the same time the Council has faced increased costs through 
population growth, changes to government policy and other pressures including 
COVID19. There are no extra resources available to local authorities that declare a 
climate emergency and we will need to find creative ways to find the resources needed 
to support this work.  

11. Legal implications 

11.1 The report refers to the Climate Change Act 2008 and regulations under that Act.  The 
Act establishes a legal framework that underpins the UK's commitment to tackling 
climate change, including reducing CO2 emissions and addressing climate risks. The 
provisions of the Act apply at central government level, at least at the moment. 

11.2 Local authorities can use their own powers to take actions.  The relevant powers are 
likely to include the wide general power of competence under Section 1 of the Localism 
Act 2011 which allows local authorities to do anything that individuals generally may 
do. The existence of the general power is not limited by the existence of any other 
power of the Council which (to any extent) overlaps the general power.   

11.3 As stated in the report and in the financial implications, this report does not commit to 
any specific actions.  Future decisions about specific actions will need to take into 
consideration the specific local authority powers which are relevant to those actions, 
and be made in line with existing decision making and legal requirements.  

Page 21

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

12. Equalities implications 

12.1 There are no specific equalities implications arising directly from this report but it 
should be noted that the risks and impacts of a changing climate will not fall equally, 
and without action the consequences will exacerbate poverty and health inequalities 
globally and locally.   

12.2 In addition, given the fundamental nature of the changes needed, there are 
considerable risks that the actions taken to limit carbon emissions could, in themselves, 
disadvantage low income and vulnerable individuals and communities. The COVID-19 
pandemic is forecast to result in a 6% global decrease in energy demand in 2020, a 
reduction that has come at huge social and economic cost.  This impact underlines that 
delivering on a climate agenda needs the UK Government to break the links between 
economic prosperity and carbon, and that locally, our strategy should be to address 
climate change as an issue of social justice and the focus of our climate emergency 
actions should be on our low income and vulnerable individuals and communities. 

12.3 Further work is needed to fully identify the equalities implications of climate change for 
Lewisham residents.   

13. Climate change and environmental implications 

13.1 These are addressed in the body of this report. 

14. Crime and disorder implications 

14.1 There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from this report.  

15. Health and wellbeing implications  

15.1 Lewisham’s Climate Emergency Action Plan will deliver a range of health and wellbeing 
benefits to residents, including actions to improve air quality, increased participation in 
active travel as well as support for low income and vulnerable households to cut the 
cost of staying warm in winter.  

16. Report author(s) and contact 

Martin O’Brien, Climate Resilience Manager, 07736 900 214 martin.o’brien@Lewisham.gov.uk  

17. Appendices 

 

  

Page 22

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

18. Glossary  

Term Definition 

Carbon / 
Carbon 
dioxide 

Carbon dioxide (CO2) is a naturally occurring gas fixed by photosynthesis into organic 
matter and is a by-product of fossil fuel combustion, land use changes and other 
industrial processes. CO2 is the principal greenhouse gas (see below) associated with 
human activity and climate change (see below) and the reference against which other 
greenhouse gases are measured. Unless otherwise indicated the terms ‘carbon’ or 
‘carbon dioxide’ are used in this report to refer to a combined measure of greenhouse 
gases (CO2e or CO2 equivalent), of which carbon dioxide is the most common.  

Carbon 
Neutral / Net 
Zero Carbon 

Carbon neutrality balances greenhouse gas emissions with carbon removals. As 
defined by the Committee on Climate Change, a net-zero or carbon neutral target 
requires “deep reductions in emissions, with any remaining sources offset by removals 
of CO₂ from the atmosphere”. In the context of Lewisham’s target this means additional 
carbon removal and storage activity at the borough level or ‘carbon offsets’ funding an 
equivalent removal outside the borough.  Lewisham’s declaration of a climate 
emergency in Lewisham used the term ‘carbon neutral’ is used. Targets at a national 
and regional level are defined in terms of net zero carbon.  There is no difference in 
meaning between ‘carbon neutral’ and ‘net zero’. 

Carbon 
Offsetting 

Carbon offsetting enables individuals and organisations to compensate for any 
emissions they cannot avoid by paying for a carbon credit, typically a payment for an 
equivalent amount of emissions to be reduced or removed elsewhere. These emissions 
savings are generated through the implementation of a variety of projects such as 
planting trees and installing solar panels. Offsetting should be seen as an option of last 
resort and there is no commitment by Lewisham Council to fund carbon offsets to meet 
the aspiration to be carbon neutral by 2030.  

Climate 

Climate is usually defined as the average weather, or more rigorously, as a statistical 
description in terms of the mean and variability of relevant quantities over a period of 
time ranging from months to thousands or millions of years. The relevant quantities are 
most often surface variables such as temperature, precipitation, and wind.  

Climate 
Change 

Climate change, as used by the United Nations International Panel on Climate Change, 
refers to a change in the state of the climate that can be identified by changes in the 
mean and/or the variability of its properties, and that persists for an extended period, 
typically decades or longer. 

Fuel Poverty 

The Government’s definition of fuel poverty for England and Wales states that a 
household is said to be in fuel poverty if: they have required fuel costs that are above 
average (the national median level), and, were they to spend that amount they would be 
left with a residual income below the official poverty line.  There is a direct link between 
living in cold and damp conditions and poor health outcomes.  

Greenhouse 
Gases 

Greenhouse gases are those gaseous constituents of the atmosphere which absorb 
and emit radiation at specific wavelengths within the spectrum of thermal infrared 
radiation emitted by the Earth’s surface, by the atmosphere itself, and by clouds. This 
raises global temperatures with a consequential impact on climate. Water vapour (H2O), 
carbon dioxide (CO2), nitrous oxide (N2O), methane (CH4), and ozone (O3) are the 
primary greenhouse gases in the Earth’s atmosphere.  

Scope 1, 2 & 
3 emissions 

Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions are a method of defining, measuring and reporting carbon 
emissions on an organisational or an area basis.  Scope 1 covers direct emissions from 
owned or controlled sources. Scope 2 covers indirect emissions from the generation of 
purchased electricity, steam, heating and cooling. Scope 3 includes all other indirect 
emissions including in particular the supply chain.  

  

Page 23

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

Annex A: connections between the climate emergency and Lewisham’s cabinet 
portfolio responsibilities 

CABINET PORTFOLIO Climate emergency themes 

Mayor of Lewisham 

 The Mayor is responsible for the 
strategic direction of the Council, leads 
the community and speaks up for the 
borough.  

 COVID-19 response and recovery 

 

 Engagement and communication 

 Ensuring a just transition to net zero 

 Future Lewisham 

 Localism 

Deputy Mayor 

 Equalities 

 Lewisham Disabled People's 
Commission 

 Bakerloo Line Extension 

 Council events 

 Civic calendar 

 Mayor's Charity 

 

 Ensuring a just transition to net zero  

 Disproportionate impact of extreme 
weather events on disabled people 

 Transport infrastructure  

Safer Communities 

 Youth violence 

 Youth justice 

 Youth Offending Service (YOS) 

 Partnership with police 

 CCTV 

 Regulatory services 

 Environmental Health 

 Trading Standards 

 Noise enforcement 

 Anti-social behaviour 

 Violence against women and girls 

 

 Improving air quality 

 Enforcing minimum energy efficiency 
standards 

Children's Services and School 
Performance 

 Primary and secondary school 
performance 

 School admissions, attendance, 
inclusion and school place planning 

 Special Educational Needs 

 Early years education and childcare 

 Early help, including children’s centres 
and family support 

 Children’s social care including child 
protection, support for children in need, 
corporate parenting for looked after 
children 

 Youth services, including Youth First 

 Child poverty 

 Young Mayor's programme. 

 

 Communication and engagement with 
schools and young people 

 Supporting young people to voice 
climate issues 

 Intergenerational justice  

 Carbon emissions from school 
buildings, school activities and the wider 
supply chain 

Housing and Planning 

 Social housing building programme 

 Housing need, including lettings and 
allocations policy 

 

 Housing is 50% of the locally measured 
emissions in the borough 

 Social housing retrofit 

Page 24

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 Homelessness and temporary 
accommodation 

 Planning 

 Regeneration 

 Landlord licensing 

 Private rented sector regulation 

 Gypsies and Travellers. 

 Private rental enforcement of minimum 
energy efficiency standards 

 Supporting ‘able to pay’ owner 
occupiers to retrofit homes 

 New build 

 Construction and embodied carbon 

 Heat networks 

Health and Adult Social Care 

 Adult social care, including care home 
and at-home provision and quality 
assurance 

 Public health 

 Mental health 

 Birmingham & Lewisham African and 
Caribbean Health Inequalities Review 
(BLACHIR)  

 Health and social care integration 

 Adult safeguarding 

 Joint commissioning 

 Supporting people 

 Older people, including representation, 
active citizenship, combating isolation, 
housing, technology, aids and adaptions 

 Technology, aids and adaptions 

 Local Assemblies. 

 

 Fuel poverty 

 Cleaner air 

 More active, healthier lifestyles 

 Social justice and a just transition 

 Disproportionate impact of extreme 
weather events on older people and 
those with long-term health conditions 

 

Democracy, Refugees and 
Accountability 

 Corporate Strategy implementation 

 Policy development 

 Refugee resettlement and migrant 
support 

 Customer services and complaints 

 Digital strategy 

 Governance 

 Legal services 

 Democratic and electoral services 

 Communications 

 Trade unions 

 Armed Forces Covenant. 

 

 Climate change is and will increasingly 
be a causes of global conflict, migration 
and refugees through pressures on land 
use 

 Engagement and communications 

 IT solutions in a low carbon world 

 Democratisation of climate emergency 

Culture 

 Culture, including London Borough of 
Culture 2022 programme 

 Libraries 

 Leisure centres 

 Evening and night time economy 

 Arts 

 Broadway Theatre 

 Sports development 

 Adult education. 

 

 Borough of Culture climate emergency 
strand 

 The power of culture and libraries to 
raise awareness and stimulate action 

 Carbon emissions from libraries, leisure 
centres and other cultural and leisure 
buildings 

 

Page 25

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Environment and Transport 

 Environment and climate change 

 Air quality 

 Parks and green spaces 

 Transport, including walking and cycling 

 Highways 

 Parking strategy and enforcement 

 Recycling and waste reduction 

 Street cleaning and fly tipping 

 Renewable energy, including district 
heat networks 

 Fuel poverty 

 

 Climate Emergency Action Plan 

 Transport 25% locally measured 
emissions 

 Trees, green infrastructure, parks and 
open spaces  

 Carbon sequestration and climate 
change adaptation 

 Improving air quality 

 Active travel 

 Public transport and reducing car use 

 Electric vehicles 

 Waste, recycling and the use of 
resources 

 Targeting support for low income and 
vulnerable residents 

Finance and Resources 

 Council budget 

 Human resources and organisational 
development 

 Transformation 

 Income generation 

 Internal audit 

 Efficiency 

 Revenue collection and benefits 

 Pensions 

 Council contracting 

 Business and Community Wealth 
Building  

 

 Cultural change within the Council 

 Direct corporate carbon emissions: gas, 
electricity and fuel consumption 

 Indirect corporate carbon emissions, 
procurement and wider supply chain 

 Adaptive responses to a changing 
climate 

 Disinvestment of pension and other 
funding to zero carbon 

 Funding and investment in local 
solutions 

Local economic development and 
inclusive growth 

 Community Wealth Building 

 Youth employment 

 Mayor's Apprenticeship programme 

 Business and retail support 

 Community development 

 Grants programmes 

 Volunteering 

 Community centres 

 Markets 

 Social enterprise 

 Higher education 

 Further education 

 Ethical procurement and modern 
slavery 

 Emergency planning and resilience 

 Bereavement services. 

 
 

 Job creation, green skills and local 
economy 

 Role of the community sector, 
volunteering, sustainability 

 Emissions from businesses  

 Adaptive responses to a changing 
climate: flooding, high temperatures, 
storms 

 

 

  

Page 26

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Annex B: The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals 

The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) are a collection of 17 interlinked global goals 

designed to be a "blueprint to achieve a better and more sustainable future for all". 

https://sdgs.un.org/.  The 17 SDGs are:  

(1) No Poverty: End poverty in all its forms everywhere; 

 

(2) Zero Hunger: End hunger, improve food security, improved nutrition and promote 

sustainable agriculture; 

 

(3) Good Health and Well-being: Ensure healthy lives and promote health and wellbeing at all 

for all at ages; 

 

(4) Quality Education: Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong 

learning for all; 

 

(5) Gender Equality: Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls; 

 

(6) Clean Water and Sanitation: Ensure availability and sustainable management of water 

and sanitation for all; 

 

(7) Affordable and Clean Energy: Ensure access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and 

modern energy for all; 

 

(8) Decent Work and Economic Growth: Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable 

economic growth, full and productive employment and decent work for all;  

 

(9) Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure: Build resilient infrastructure, promote inclusive and 

sustainable industrialisation and foster innovation; 

 

(10) Reducing Inequality: Reduce inequality within and among countries; 

 

(11) Sustainable Cities and Communities: Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, 

resilient and sustainable;  

 

(12) Responsible Consumption and Production: Ensure sustainable consumption and 

production patterns; 

 

(13) Climate Action: Take urgent action to tackle climate change and its impacts; 

 

(14) Life Below Water: Conserve and sustainable use the oceans, seas and marine resources 

for sustainable development; 

 

(15) Life On Land: Protect, restore and promote sustainable use of terrestrial ecosystems, halt 

and reverse land degradation and biodiversity loss; 

 

(16) Peace, Justice, and Strong Institutions: Promote peaceful and inclusive societies, provide 

access to justice for all, and build effective, accountable and inclusive institutions; 

 

(17) Partnerships for the Goal: Strengthen the means of implementation and revitalize the 

global partnership for sustainable development.  

Page 27

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://sdgs.un.org/


 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 

 

Timeline of engagement and decision-making 

The intention to make a priority of resident experience was set out to Full Council in 
February 2020, though the programme of work was subsequently delayed by the pandemic. 

The report to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 9 September 2021 was the first 
formal engagement with Members. This report provides an update on the recommendations 

made by the committee at that meeting. 

1. Summary 

1.1. This paper provides an update on recommendations made by the committee at the last 
meeting. The recommendations were as follows: 

That: 

1. The key issues raised by Members at the meeting be noted and taken on board as 

part of the resident experience programme. 

Update on Improving the Resident Experience 

Date: 30 November 2021 

Key decision: No  

Class: Part 1 

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Assistant Chief Executive; Head of Insight, Transformation and 
Organisational Development; Director of IT and Digital Services; Head of Corporate 
Customer Relations  

Outline and recommendations 

This report provides an update on recommendations made at the September Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee meeting where a report on the Resident Experience Programme, 

intended to improve the experiences of our residents in their interactions with the Council, 
was considered. 

Overview and Scrutiny is recommended to note, and comment on, the contents of this 
update. 

Page 28

Agenda Item 4



  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 
2. Officers review, as part of the resident experience programme: 

 
(a) the pathways and gateways for Members to raise cases (first-stage and escalated) 

to departments; and 

(b) Member casework digital systems, to ensure they are working for all stakeholders, 

including Members. 

 
3. A series of Member-led, themed workshops be held to examine in detail the key 

themes raised by Members, to help shape the resident experience programme.  

 
4. Prior to the workshops, to inform Member thinking, a facilitated session be held 

with councillors to really understand and focus on how our services can be 
reshaped with residents at the centre. 

 
5. The Chair of Overview and Scrutiny write to the Chief Executive to request an 

urgent review of the Council’s automated telephone system, to assess its usability, 
with the results reported back to Members of the Committee. 

 
6. An update report be received at the next meeting, feeding back on the above 

recommendations; and their impact on the resident experience programme. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1. Overview and Scrutiny is recommended to note and comment on the contents of this 
update report.  

2.2. The Committee may wish to recommend that officers working on the Resident 
Experience Programme keep the councillors that have led on this work up to date on 
progress. The Committee may also want a further update on the programme at its 
February meeting. 

3. Policy Context 

3.1. The resident improvement work will enable all priorities of the Corporate Strategy, most 
explicitly Open Lewisham, as well as the organisational priority from the Chief 
Executive’s paper to Full Council February 2020 to improve our resident 
experience, and supports the work of our Future Lewisham ambition.  

3.2. The Council’s values shape interactions and behaviours across the organisational 
hierarchy, between officers, and members, between the council and partners and 
between the council and residents. In delivering our duties, we are guided by the 
Council's four core values: 

 We put service to the public first  

 We respect all people and all communities 

 We invest in employees  

 We are open, honest, and fair in all we do. 

4. The automated telephone system 

4.1. Following the September meeting, it was agreed that the Chair of Overview and 
Scrutiny would write to the Chief Executive to request an urgent review of the Council’s 
automated telephone system, to assess its usability, with the results reported back to 
Members of the Committee. The report of the Director of IT and Digital Services, 
requested by the Chief Executive, is attached at Appendix B. 

Page 29

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

5. Casework 

5.1. It was recommended at the September meeting that officers review, as part of the 
resident experience programme, (a) the pathways and gateways for Members to raise 
cases (first-stage and escalated) to departments; and (b) Member casework digital 
systems, to ensure they are working for all stakeholders, including Members. 

5.2. A review of casework has begun with initial work undertaken by the Corporate 
Complaints and Casework team to explore potential future options.  These will now be 
further developed as part of the resident experience programme with a view to then 
piloting an approach with Members prior to any changes being introduced.  This 
workstream is intended to be prioritised as part of the programme.   

6. OSC Sessions 

6.1. At the September meeting, the Committee recommended that a series of Member-led, 
themed workshops be held to examine in detail the key themes raised by Members, to 
help shape the resident experience programme. Prior to the workshops, to inform 
Member thinking, it was recommended that a facilitated session be held with a service 
design expert so that councillors could really understand and focus on how our 
services can be reshaped with residents at the centre. 

6.2. On 8 November Members of the Committee were invited to attend a session with Lou 
Downe, the author of ‘Good Services’. Lou Downe is an expert in service design and 
how to ensure that services work well and are user focussed. At the session, Members 
considered what a service is; what users need, and how they behave when using 
services; the importance of service design and putting the residents’ needs at the heart 
of service delivery; and the 15 Principles of Good Service Design and how to use them 
to build services that work for everyone. It was noted that bad service design was one 
of the biggest unnecessary costs to taxpayers and that policies and services should go 
hand in hand. In the discussion that followed, Members discussed: 

 How to balance what users want to do with what they need to do 

 Ensuring that residents are heard, understood and empahised with - and 
communicated with in a way that makes sense to them 

 How to avoid service silos 

 The importance of contract management for outsourced services 

 Considering the full scope of the user journey inclusing interaction with other 
services and organisations 

 The importance of cultural change in service transformation and redesign 

 How to design inclusive services and the importance of thinking about what 
people can and can’t do; can and can’t access; and their identity 

 Digital services doing the heavy lifting, so other channels can deal with more 
complex issues which need a human being. 
 

6.3. Following the session with Lou, four member-led workshops were held. The workshops 
focussed on the themes that emerged at the September meeting: 

 Organisational culture 

 The opportunity of local 

 Digital inclusion and innovation 

 Multi-channel approach 
 

6.4. Participation in the workshops was on the basis of interest, Scrutiny Members could go 
to as many or as few workshops as they liked. Each group was asked to come up with 
a vision statement to articulate what they thought the council wanted to achieve in that 

Page 30

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

area and then consider how they think success against the vision statement could be 
measured. Finally, they considered any relevant barriers / challenges / opportunities. A 
summary of the workshop outputs is appended at Appendix A. The full notes of each 
session have been provided to the officer lead for the Resident Experience programme 
to help inform the evidence base for the programme. 
 

6.5. Officers working on the Resident Experience Programme are keen to keep councillors 
up to date on progress. The governance arrangements for the programme are currently 
being established but an informal member group could form part of the arrangements. 
It is suggested that the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny; Councillor Walsh, who led on 
this topic for the committee and facilitated two workshops; and councillors Davis and 
Latouche who facilitated the other two workshops, meet with the officer team 
periodically, if they would like to do so, to hear about progress on behalf of scrutiny. 
The Committee may also want a further update on the programme at its February 
meeting. 

7. Next steps 

7.1. The Resident Experience programme is entering the Discovery and Design phase 
which will be delivered over the next 6 months. 

7.2. The areas of focus for the Discovery phase have been informed by engagement to 
date with Members and officers. 

7.3. The approach for the discovery phase will be to undertake a series of exercises 
seeking to understand who our residents are and the different needs of our varying 
resident personas as well as what our current landscape is in terms of how and when 
residents access our services, the different channels across the organisation, what our 
residents experiences are to date and where the areas of opportunity are. This will be 
done through undertaking desk based research, analysis of current operating models, 
finding and analysing the data and insight we already hold on our residents, as well as 
speaking to Members, staff and residents.  

7.4. The design phase will take the understanding we have developed through Discovery to 
identify how we can address the gaps and improve our ability to meet resident’s needs 
thorugh the design of potential solutions which will lead to the development of a 
business case for the Delivery phase of the programme. 

7.5. The Discovery and Design phases will be carried out taking into consideration the 
Council’s financial position and budget savings discussions.  The driver for this 
programme is to improve the quality of our services and improve the experience of 
interacting with the Council for our residents. By understanding our residents’ needs, 
and designing our services around these, we should inevitably improve our processes 
through streamlining them and improve our communication and empowerment for 
residents. These improvements will lead to more effective and efficient interactions and 
processes and therefore result in the delivery of savings. At this stage, the programme 
is about to start the Discovery work which will identify the areas and size of opportunity 
and the potential for benefits including savings against these areas. The programme 
should deliver savings whilst improving experience for our residents, and it is proposed 
channel shift opportunities should be considered with this service design viewpoint and 
through the approach being developed by this programme rather than a traditional 
approach to channel shift which has historically proven difficult to deliver savings 
against and can reduce our ability to deliver successful outcomes for our residents. 

7.6. In terms of the committee’s recommendations and input so far, the findings of the 
telephone review will be taken forward by officers and work is ongoing in relation to 
casework. Members of the senior leadership team are having their own session with 
Lou Downe in December. The outputs from the member led workshops will be fed into 

Page 31

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

the resident experience programme and there will be an ongoing role for members to 
inform the evidence base for this work from their experiences working with and 
representing residents. Members are especially well-placed to shape this work as it is 
about the relationship that the Council they oversee has with the residents they 
represent. Experiences and insights members have from casework, surgeries and 
wider resident engagement are critical to the evidence-led approach officers are 
taking.   

7.7. There will also be opportunities for resident engagement and coproduction, as part of 
the Council’s dual commitment to user-led design and improving equality through our 
work.   

7.8. As outlined above, officers are currently completing the scoping activity for the resident 
experience programme and associated accelerators and pilots over the coming months 
with a view to having a fully scoped and defined programme in early 2022 to begin 
delivery in full. 

8. Financial implications  

8.1. There are opportunities, in improving our processes and structures around resident 
experience, to achieve cost savings, in line with the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
programme.This programme of work should result in a sustainable operating model, 
enabling us to continue to meet the needs of our residents within an ever-reducing 
financial envelope. The cost of the Lou Downe session on designing good services for 
residents was met from the scrutiny budget. 

9. Legal implications 

9.1. There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.  

10. Equalities implications 

10.1. Improving our resident experience is about raising our standards for all residents and 
making sure that all interactions with the Council are positive, supportive, enabled and 
empowering. We have a diverse borough and need to take into account and design 
for the range of experiences and characteristics of our residents, mitigating barriers 
they may experience and reducing marginalisation through intelligent, inclusive 
design. This programme will actively engage with “seldom heard” residents as outlined 
in the democracy review.   

11. Climate change and environmental implications 

11.1. There are opportunities, in improving our processes and structures around resident 
experience, to design with climate in mind and strive for reduced transport, printing and 
other high polluting and resource intensive approaches, delivering environmentally 
friendly alternatives wherever possible – e.g. through reduced need for paper contact 
and in-person appointments.  

12. Crime and disorder implications 

12.1. There are no specific crime and disoder implications arising from this report. 

13. Health and wellbeing implications  

13.1. There is an opportunity to improve the wellbeing of our residents through an improved 
experience engaging with the Council, particularly for those who have higher than 
average need to interact with the Council or who may have had negative experiences 
with beaureacracy in their engagement public sector agencies. This will be an active 

Page 32

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

consideration of the programme. 

14. Background papers 

14.1. Chief Executive’s Paper on Organisational Priorities to Full Council February 2020 

14.2. Report to Overview and Scrutiny on 9 September 2021 

15. Report author and contact 

15.1. Atika Mohammed, Head of Insight, Transformation and Organisational Development, 
020 8314 3133, Atika.Mohammed@lewisham.gov.uk 

15.2. Charlotte Dale, Head of Overview and Scrutiny, 020 8314 8286, 
Charlotte.Dale@lewisham.gov.uk 

 

Page 33

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s72041/Organisational%20priorities%20for%202020.pdf
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s86174/Item5Resident%20Experience090921.pdf
mailto:Atika.Mohammed@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:Charlotte.Dale@lewisham.gov.uk


 

 

Appendix A - Workshop summaries 

The full notes of each session have been provided to the officer lead for the Resident Experience programme to help inform the evidence base for 
the programme 

 

Workshop Digital inclusion / 
innovation (led by Cllr 
Latouche) 

 

The opportunity of local 
(led by Cllr Walsh) 

Organisational Culture 
(led by Cllr Davis) 

Multi-channel approach 
(led by Cllr Walsh) 

Vision 
 

Residents are able to easily 
access our services through 
the most suitable channel with 
all our channels accessible for 
all and our website and online 
services easy to use and 
centred on our residents. 
 

We will do the right thing, at 
the right time, for the right 
person, for the right reasons 
and in the right place. 
 
We will provide services that 
deliver social value for the 
communities we serve. We 
will prioritise complementing 
our existing statutory and 
community infrastructure 
where it exists, but also be 
open to developing new 
initiatives where necessary. 
 
We will design, deliver and 
evaluate all of our services 
against our residents’ needs 
and feedback, and we will 
develop and enhance what 
we do through a continuous 
reflection and improvement 
cycle. 
 

We are Team Lewisham and 
we do things the Lewisham 
way. We are there for our 
residents’ life journey – the 
everyday isues as well as life’s 
key moments. We work 
together creatively and 
collaboratively. Staff and 
members alike know what 
good services look like and 
focus on shared outcomes. 
Initiative and new ideas are 
encouraged and rewarded. We 
treat residents as partners and 
see them as whole people, not 
individual issues. Our focus is 
on providing the best 
experience for our residents. 

We will effectively respond to 
your needs via a broad range 
of channels that are felxible 
and equitable.  
 
We understand that for some 
of our residents/customers we 
will need to provide an 
enhanced level of support to 
make sure you can access our 
servives equitably. 
 
Lewisham will listen in a way 
that suits you to deliver your 
services. 
 

P
age 34



  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

We will deliver local services 
in partnership, but be 
respectful as to the limits of 
voluntary organisations and 
volunteers. 
 

What will 
success 
look like? 
 

 The website should be 
easily navigable with 
residents able to find and 
access the pages they 
need quickly and efficiently. 

 The website needs to be 
reliable and work well. 

 There should be an 
alternative method to 
contact people if the 
website route fails which 
should be sign-posted at 
the appropriate points on 
the website. 

 The telephone system 
needs to work. If it uses 
voice recognition it must 
recognise the words being 
spoken.  

 User-testing on the website 
should be carried out and 
should include 
consideration of a range of 
people such as young 
people and those with 
protected characteristics. 

 The website should work 
well on different devices. 

The session considered what 
‘Opportunity of Local’ meant to 
them in the context of good 
service design. Key themes 
that emerged included: 
 

 Circular economies: 
communities using their local 
business providers / keeping 
spend in Lewisham / being 
conscious of where we 
spend our money as a 
council. 

 Co-design – building good 
services with the community 
and end-users. 

 Using existing local 
infrastructure. 

 Services that work for the 
local area – not one size fits 
all.  

 Getting good intelligence 
from the community, tapping 
into local networks.  

 ‘Tapping into the energy and 
enthusiasm born from the 
Mutual Aid movement to 

 A good organisational 
culture should be of benefit 
to employees of the Council 
and the results of a positive 
culture should be tangible. 

 We can define success as a 
borough whose culture is 
well defined and articulated 
for both internal and external 
audiences – where everyone 
understand the mission and 
values. 

 Fewer calls – because 
people know where to 
access digital services. 

 More cross team 
collaboration and open and 
creative collaboration 
between staff, residents and 
members. 

 Staff living/wanting to live in 
the borough and residents 
advocating for it as a great 
place to live/work. 

 Fewer complaints. 

 Continuing the successes 
that the response to the 
pandemic brought. 

The session considered what 
‘multi-channel approach’ 
meant to them in the context 
of good service design. Key 
themes that emerged 
included: 
 

 The importance of providing 
services/listening to 
residents in a way that suits 
them (rather than the 
Council). 

 Focus on the 
view/experience of 
residents/customers rather 
than on differences between 
services. 

 Open and transparent 
communication with 
residents . 

 Transparency forming part of 
the quality assurance 
process. 

 Lots of requests are 
received for members by 
telephone – which isn’t 
always practical. 

P
age 35

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Many people access the 
site via their phone and 
some of the areas don’t 
work well in this way 
currently. When user 
testing takes place different 
devices should also be 
trialled. 

 

enhance (not replace) 
staffing roles in services. 

 Revitalising our high streets: 
using community facilities, 
embracing ‘shoputainment’ 
and access to civic and other 
services. 

 Development of a 15 min 
civic city: establishment of 
hubs for simple services.  

 Rebuilding our communities 
post Covid: community hubs 
reminding people to come 
out of the house; promoting 
our local shops. 

 Services that are agile and 
constantly improving based 
on feedback. 

 

 

 Resident satisfaction and 
staff morale/retention 
increasing. 

 The engagement carried out 
in Catford (for the 
development of the 
masterplan) was an example 
of good practice. 

 The ‘brand’ of the borough is 
important – and this is 
emphasised by the profile of 
the ‘borough of culture’. 

 The Council should respond 
to queries on social media 
(but there should be ways to 
‘filter out noise’). 

 Too many platforms for 
members (and the Council?) 
to review and on which to 
respond. 

 Anonymity online and on 
social media – some 
members will not engage 
with anonymous accounts. 

 There should be systems 
and processes for joining up 
contacts from residents – 
which allow officers across 
the organisation to view a 
single file of resident 
information and interactions 
– and ‘no wrong door’ 
(meaning any officer should 
be able to facilitate/direct 
residents to the right 
services). 

 The importance of the 
democratic process in 
setting the direction of the 
Council – and expressing 
the views of the majority 
party. 

 The need for services to be 
flexible enough to meet the 
needs of different (and 
diverse groups of) residents. 

P
age 36

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 The Council should be clear 
about the channels it uses 
and the service standards to 
which it would work. 

 All technology used by the 
Council should enable clear 
communication – and be 
intuitive for residents. 

 
Barriers / 
Challenges
/ 
Opportun- 
ities 
 

Challenges/Barriers:  
 

 The website design needs to 
be joined up with service 
providers. (If things are easy 
to report but then actions not 
followed up that would make 
a poor user experience of 
the website). 

 The digitally excluded need 
to be considered. It should 
be clear to residents how 
and why to use digital but 
that alternatives will be 
available for those that need 
them.  

 Managing public 
expectations needs to be 
part of it as the Council is 
under severe financial 
pressure. Quick wins could 
be better than something 
that is highly aspirational. 

 
Opportunities: 

Challenges/Barriers:  
 

 15 min civic city – it hasn’t 
worked in some other local 
authority areas perhaps 
because of economies of 
scale. Might it create 
enclaves or even ghettos?  

 Officer inertia and 
resistance: we need to 
recruit the right people who 
are buying into the vision 
and are enthusiastic about it. 

 Lack of funding from central 
government: we need to use 
P/political leavers to push 
forward. Officers need to talk 
about the practical 
challenges too. 

 Transitional period – we 
can’t do everything all at 
once: need to be open to 
residents that it will be 
bumpy at first.  

Challenges/Barriers:  
 

 Home working – officers 
can’t communicate 
effectively and managers 
can’t influence culture. 

 Resources/WFH/Legal 
framework/risk. 

 Inability of politicians to 
tolerate failure on the 
journey to success. 

 Do people know what other 
teams are doing? 

 Is their organisational buy in 
to culture change or is there 
change fatigue/memories of 
past failed change 
programmes? Is there 
management buy in? 

 Officers feeling demotivated 
due to cuts and 
redundancies. 

 Reward structure not 
incentivising staff to take 
initiative and be creative. 

Challenges/Barriers:  
 

 The pros and cons of 

enabling contact through 

different channels (and 

whether the Council should 

commit to responding on a 

range of channels or just a 

defined set). 

 The distinction between 

‘needs’ and ‘services’ as well 

as that which is within the 

gift of the Council (and/or its 

partners) to provide. 

 The Council was not always 

forward thinking in terms of 

the funding decisions it 

made. 

Opportunities: 
 

 Being aspirational and acting 
confidently and efficiently 

P
age 37

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

 Communicating clearly with 
residents about the best way 
to access services so they 
know how to do things. 

 The range of services 
included under digital 
inclusion is broad – breaking 
down to smaller deliverables 
helps to monitor output. 

 Increasing digital access to 
services is important for 
efficiencies to protect other 
services. Residents should 
be encouraged to access 
services digitally by these 
being excellent rather than 
by the alternative methods 
(such as phone) being poor. 

 Focus on point of view of 
resident. 

 Thinking about how the 
website tracks individuals 
could be useful. i.e if it 
recognises users 
automatically. 

 Apps could play an important 
role. The same user-testing 
would be needed to make 
sure they were appropriate 
and user-friendly. (Others felt 
a properly working website 
was key rather than requiring 

 Tap into ‘local’ mind set and 
the continued push from 
residents to care about their 
own neighbourhood. 

 
Opportunities: 
 

 Tap into our experienced 
residents/officers/councillors’ 
wisdom before spending 
£££s on outside consultants. 

 Communicating what is 
available where, use our 
existing comms channels, 
develop new ones. Have a 
usable directory of services 
and where/how they can 
access them. 

 Could i-casework be used 
directly by residents? We 
need to update our social 
contract with residents – 
what are we going to provide 
and what are we going to 
step back from? Clarity and 
transparency, including the 
reason why, i.e. central 
government. 

 Increased partnership 
working: explore creative 
ways to do crowd funding, 
use digital platforms, support 
seed funding, develop match 
funding. 

 
Opportunities: 

 

 Officers and members 
working together rather than 
officers managing members 
and members holding 
officers to account. 

 Building on the successful 
new ways of working 
developed during the 
pandemic response. 

 Develop a shared 
understanding of what a 
good service is (ref: Lou 
Downe) 

 Develop a participatory 
brand – position the borough 
as an open, connected, 
collaborative and productive 
place to base a creative, 
starter or SME Businesses; 
with access to talent, ideas 
and great spaces. 

 The Council should have a 
clearly articulated vision. 

 Home working might cause 
problems in terms of 
communication – and with 
developing a shared culture. 

 The risks of innovation (and 
failure) in the delivery of 
Council services was a 

rather than just ‘trying to do 
our best’. 

 Lack of funding was a 
question of prioritisation – 
the Council still spends a lot 
of money – even if it has 
less than it used to. 

 There should be open and 

honest communication with 

residents about why 

decisions were being made 

 The potential to use ‘meta 

data’ to target services 

.towards users in a way that 

is best for them. 

 Recognising the diversity of 

barriers to access – and 

being able to tailor contact 

channels to enable access. 

Members had mixed views on  
the emergence of new 
platforms and channels for 
communication – some 
members believing that this 
presented a barrier – and 
some that it was an 
opportunity to engage more 
broadly (particularly with young 
people) 
 

P
age 38

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

residents to download 
additional apps). 

 Working with residents on 
the journey to improvement 
is important.  

 

 Penetration of technology: 
96% of the population now 
have smart phones. The 
expectation is that you can 
now do everything on an 
app. People seem to have 
the platform, we need to 
have the skill to develop and 
utilise it. Just one app to rule 
them all, though!  

 

challenge – because of the 
vital nature of services. 

 The relationship between 
officers and members should 
be collaborative. 

 The ideas generated from 
the session should be 
analysed and prioritised so 
that the suggestions with the 
most impact are 
implemented first. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 39

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 

 

  

Report title: The Council’s Automated Telephone System 

Date: 30th November 2021 

Key decision: No 

Class: Part 1 

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Director IT and Digital Services 

Outline and recommendations 

This report presents members of Overview and Scrutiny with a review of our automated 
telephony arrangements, with particular reference to the switchboard functionality. 

Members are asked to note the contents and actions of this report. 

 

Timeline of engagement and decision-making 

9 Sep 2021 – Overview and Scrutiny. After receiving a report from the Resident Experience 
programme, the Chair requests the Chief Executive to review the council’s automated 
telephone systems with specific reference to complaints about the switchboard from 

members 

17 Sep 2021 – The Chief Executive’s response to the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny 
initiates this technical review. 

Page 40



  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

1. Summary 

1.1. This report has been produced in response to a request from the Chair of Overview 
and Scrutiny to review the councils automated telephone system, with specific 
reference to member’s complaints about the switchboard. 

1.2. The switchboard is the only automated element of the telephony system, and is the 
only area of concern specifically singled out by members. Therefore this report focuses 
on the switchboard and those technologies that directly support its operation. 

1.3. Lewisham currently operates an automated switchboard using a combination of 
intelligent voice routing (caller is prompted to press a number for different options), and 
speech recognition technologies. 

1.4. Our automated switchboard technologies were implemented to create operational 
efficiencies, and although these types of technology are maturing rapidly the market 
does not yet offer solutions that can provide the same quality of experience as a 
human operator in many scenarios. 

1.5. This report finds there are no inherent issues with any of the specific technologies that 
Lewisham (and our technology partner boroughs Brent and Southwark) use, however 
there are significant process issues, both in the way the call journeys have been 
configured, and in data maintenance to ensure a call can be routed to the correct team 
or person. 

1.6. There are remedial measures that will be immediately pursued to improve the 
cleanliness of data, and improve on the changes that have already been made to 
reconfigure the routing processes to provide a higher quality customer experience. 
These are outlined in the body of this report. 

1.7. These technologies continue to evolve and mature and therefore we will review the 
market for alternative options that may have emerged ahead of our current technology 
contracts expiring at the end of 2023.  

Page 41

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

2. Recommendations 

2.1. Members are asked to note the findings of this report, and the actions it defines in 
section 5: Future Work. 

3.  Background  

3.1. The council has for many years operated its corporate switchboard through the 
customer contact centre. 

3.2. In recent years, the council has promoted a general shift to digital channels in order to 
make cost savings. The automated switchboard has been in place since at least 2014, 
and it was integrated with the current telephony set up in 2018. 

3.3. Members have raised concerns about the effectiveness of these automated 
technologies, and the quality of experience offered to residents and businesses 
contacting the council by telephone. 

3.4. The Director of IT and Digital Services has been requested to conduct a review of the 
current technologies that support the switchboard, and the findings of that review are 
documented in this report. 

  

Page 42

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

4. Current Position 

Switchboard Operation 

4.1. The Council currently use a solution called Netcall for its switchboard. The supplier is a 
leading provider of speech recognition systems in the UK and the product is widely 
used by health and government organisations. Our Shared Service partners Brent and 
Southwark use the same set up as Lewisham and have not reported any significant 
levels of dissatisfaction that has come to light as part of this review. 

4.2. We routinely process around 20,000 calls per month through Netcall, of which 87.5% of 
callers are addressed through automated options 12.5% have the need to speak to a 
live operator. For comparison we have received the following information from our 
shared service (we have not yet had time to fully analyse reasons for the significant 
differences in call volumes): 

 Brent process an average 7200 calls per month of which 58% are managed by 
automation. 

 Southwark process an average of 6300 calls per month of which 58.4% are 
managed by automation. 

4.3. The system was originally configured in a way to reduce the number of calls being 
routed to a human operator, with an indirect aim of encouraging residents and 
businesses to use digital channels. 

4.4. Following concerns raised by members in September the processes have been 
reconfigured and the caller is now automatically rerouted to a live operator after 2 
attempts, and is presented with an option to talk to a live operator after the first 
attempt.  

4.5. Speech recognition in general is a maturing technology and its shortcomings around 
accents and dialects are well publicised. It can also suffer from background noise and 
poor connections. But in addition the system can only route a call if it recognises the 
department or person that is being asked for. In common with most systems of this 
type the Netcall system can be trained and configured to improve its accuracy. This 
training carries an overhead, and the end quality comes down to how much time and 
effort the organisation invests in proactive and reactive training. 

4.6. Lewisham currently rely primarily on reactive training. Where the system does not 
recognise a word or phrase, Netcall will issue a weekly list of these words and phrases 
and a member of staff from the Customer Service Centre adds the words and phrases 
to the system and ‘teaches’ the system where to route them. It should be noted that the 
system can be taught to recognise any word or phrase in any language, these simply 
need to be added to the system and the system set up to route them correctly.  

4.7. The Customer Service Centre also receive weekly reports of staff members that do not 
have an extension number in the system and will work with service managers and IT to 
get them set up where appropriate. It should be noted that not all staff currently have, 
or require an extension number therefore there will be some staff who cannot be 
contacted directly by name. 

Switchboard Technology 

Netcall 

4.8. The Netcall system is built around an artificial intelligence product called Nuance.  

4.9. Nuance is a well-regarded and relatively mature product, and is the same technology 
that sits behind the Dragon products that the council uses to support colleagues who 

Page 43

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

require a voice recognition capability under the Disability Discrimination Act. It is also 
the underlying speech recognition technology for Apple’s Siri virtual assistant. 

4.10. Nuance was recently acquired by Microsoft, and this aligns to the council’s current 
strategic relationship with Microsoft. 

4.11. Netcall is aimed at the UK public sector market. They continually train their product, 
and they share the training across their whole customer base. This means that over 
time the system becomes more capable of translating different accents and 
pronunciations and “understanding” how they relate to a local authority set up. 
However due to variations in the way that Local Authorities operate, there will inevitably 
be a high degree of local machine-training required to meet our specific need. 

4.12. As well as Netcall there are two other primary technology elements involved in routing 
a call to the correct recipient, 8x8 and Active Directory. 

8x8 

4.13. 8x8 is the council’s core telephony platform. It is a modern cloud based digital system 
and calls can be delivered either to a physical handset on the desk, or to a corporate 
laptop or smartphone. 

4.14. All aspects of the 8x8 system can be controlled from laptops, including managing 
diverts and voicemail, so there is no longer any need for officers to be in the office to 
make or receive calls. 

4.15. Once Netcall identifies the extension (which may be an individual, a queue, or a team 
“hunt group”), then it passes the call to that extension on 8x8. 

Active Directory 

4.16. Active Directory is a Microsoft product that sits at the heart of most corporate IT 
networks and its primary purpose is to control access to individual systems. It can also 
be used to store organizational hierarchy information and is often used as a corporate 
directory. It provides the contact information on the Lewisham email and intranet 
systems.  

4.17. In Lewisham, the organizational information is currently updated based on information 
received from managers through the starters, leavers and movers process. This has 
led to issues around the cleanliness of the data, and there have been some recent 
moves to update data directly from Oracle, although these processes still require a 
degree of manual intervention. Oracle data is by no means 100% clean, but this will be 
addressed by the upcoming Oracle Improvement project.  

4.18. In the Lewisham set up, phone extension details are manually updated from 8x8 to 
Active Directory by IT based on information received from managers through the 
starters, movers and leavers process. 

4.19. For incoming calls to the switchboard, Netcall uses its algorithms and internal data to 
work out the person or the team that the caller is trying to reach, in much the same way 
as a human operator would. Once it has identified the person or team, it does a look up 
on Active Directory to retrieve the extension number which is then used for routing the 
call to 8x8. 

4.20. This set up exposes a weakness; the extension can only be found if it has been 
recorded in Active Directory. Currently the process to add an extension number to 
Active Directory is entirely manual, so it is highly prone to process failure and human 
error. 

Conclusion 

4.21. To compile this report, the author has spoken to officers in customer services and IT, 

Page 44

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

senior and technical representatives of Netcall, and sought independent views from 
Gartner Research. 

4.22. A number of test calls have also been made to the switchboard and it has been noted 
that for common services and named individuals it works reliably well, based on the 
experience of the author of this report, but it works less well for job titles and 
departments, or where the day to day pronunciation of a name is not obvious. 

4.23. One particular concern was that it does not easily recognise members, who are 
recorded on the Active Directory with a “Cllr” prefix (e.g. Cllr Paul Maslin). It does not 
appear that the system has been trained to recognise all expected ways of identifying a 
councillor, e.g. 

 Councillor Maslin 

 Councillor Paul Maslin 

 Paul Maslin 

4.24. The main “selling point” of automated switchboards is that they create efficiencies. The 
technologies simply have not yet reached a level of sophistication where they can 
match a human capacity to route a call correctly.  

4.25. Their main weakness is that they are entirely reliant on being able to link the person or 
department that someone has requested to the entry in the phone directory. This 
requires significant amounts of human effort to train the system. 

4.26. However there are some qualitative advantages of operating an automated 
switchboard that mitigate this weakness: 

 An automated switchboard is not constrained by operator availability – therefore 
callers will not be stuck in a queue waiting for the next operator to become 
available. 

 An automated switchboard can operate at irregular hours, routing calls to teams 
who operate outside of normal working hours (although the Lewisham do not 
use the technology in this way). 

4.27. Based on the analysis of the current situation, there does not appear to be any 
significant issue with any one of the technologies being used. They are all modern and 
widely used in local government. 

4.28. In particular there is some recent research from Gartner that identifies 8x8 as a strong 
contender with growing capability for small to midsize contact centre like ours. 

4.29. However it should also be noted that we have been advised by Gartner Research 
during the course of this investigation that when it comes to automation based on 
machine learning, Local Government is proving to be more challenging than other 
areas of the public sector due to the sheer quantity and diversity of the services that we 
offer. 

4.30. The way the various technologies are joined together appears to be questionable with 
the critical dependence on Active Directory which in turn is critically dependent upon 
starters, movers and leavers processes which have some known issues These  
process issues are being resolved, which will support the Active Directory data being 
kept clean. 

4.31. One issue that has come to light is a lack of clarity around eligibility for a phone 
number. The Contact Centre are working on the assumption that all officers should 
have a phone number and always request one to be set up in cases where they cannot 
find an extension for an individual. However there has always been a finite pool of 
numbers purchased for 8x8, and they are allocated at a service manager’s 

Page 45

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

discretion/request. This leads to issues with managing the pool of available extension 
numbers and needs to be resolved (see action 5.6 ) 

5. Future Work 

5.1. All recommended work needs to balance the current strategic priorities of containing 
costs to set a balanced budget against improving the customer experience. Any 
decision to step away from automated speech recognition is purely an operational one, 
and therefore NOT a consideration for this report which focuses on the technology. 

5.2. The most immediate and impactful resolution is to make sure that a caller is directed to 
a human operator as soon as they have trouble with the automated solution. Measures 
have recently been put in place to reroute the caller to a human operator after 2 failed 
attempts by the automated process, and the call centre are monitoring to see if there 
are any adverse impacts on either queue wait times or abandoned calls – both of which 
would signal a deterioration in the customer experience in line with the impacts 
identified in 4.26 above. At the time of despatching this report a small increase of 
around 60 call per week has been noticed. This has not had any significant operational 
impact, although it is too early to make a definitive assessment. 

5.3. Given the challenges the technology faces in determining department names, and the 
sheer cost and effort likely to be involved in proactively training the system to cater for 
all eventualities we will further shorten the journey to a human operator to improve the 
quality of the customer experience, and continue to rely on reactive training to improve 
the underlying accuracy of the system: 

 The system will be reconfigured to route calls to a human operator after 
one failed attempt, and monitoring put in place to ensure there is no 
detrimental impact. 

5.4. We will take the immediate opportunity to proactively train the system to recognise 
members: 

 The system will be trained to recognise all common forms of identification 
for elected members including; “Councillor <First Name><Last Name>”, 
“Councillor <Last Name>”, “<”First Name”, “Last Name”>. 

5.5. Despite the questions over the way the technologies are joined up there are some 
immediate actions we will take to immediately improve the routing of calls to 
departments and individuals: 

 An automated feed will be implemented between 8x8 and Active Directory 
to make sure that all phone numbers are up to date 

 An automated feed will be implemented between Oracle and Active 
Directory. This will improve the quality of the team/department 
information that is available for human operators to correctly route a call. 

5.6. To address the issue of phone number eligibility we will: 

 allocate all individuals  with network access an allocated  phone number, 
and  the 8x8 license base will be maintained automatically in line with 5.5 
above. 

5.7. The current telephony systems are due for renewal at the end of 2023, and this affords 
us an opportunity to review the market for alternative solutions through the 
procurement process. However it should be noted that our partners do not currently 
share concerns about the effectiveness of the current technology, and this may mean 
we have to accept the higher costs of running a Lewisham specific solution. 

Page 46

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 We will at our earliest opportunity conduct a soft market test through the 
Shared Technology Service to assess if there are better products 
available which will help shape the subsequent procurement exercise.  

5.8. Some of the problems encountered are down to less than optimal data maintenance 
processes in the council,  including the proper management of joiners, movers and 
leavers.  

 A corporate approach to managing joiners, movers and leavers is in train 
already so that managers are clearer on their responsibilities and the 
actions they need to take, and these processes will be  simplified to 
remove any dual entry of data. 

5.9. It is proposed that all of the remedial actions detailed in 5.3 to 5.6 are validated 
technically and prioritised with an aim to implementation by the end of the calendar 
year.  

Page 47

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

6. Financial implications  

6.1. The actions defined in the report will require a small amount of investment to develop 
automated feeds into Active Directory. This is not expected to exceed £5k and would 
be contained within the existing IT budget. 

6.2. The project to rationalise the Leavers Movers and Joiners process needs to be a 
scoped and approved, and will likely require changes to existing systems. These may 
carry a cost for which funding would need to be identified.  

6.3. It is anticipated that the council has enough extensions to meet the proposal to tie 
phone numbers to network logins, however in the event that more are required an 
additional cost of £4.50 per additional license should be regarded as a contingency. 

6.4. Should the council elect to move to alternative solutions at the end of the current 
contract period there will likely be significant deployment and migration costs, but these 
will be fully identified during the business case development and subsequent 
procurement process. 

7. Legal implications 

7.1. No specific legal implications other than those included in the body of this report 

8. Equalities implications 

8.1. The council is committed to make all of its services accessible and inclusive, 
regardless of ability or ethnicity. Our frontline telephony services must not unfairly 
discriminate against any individual or group. 

8.2. The findings of this report suggest that automated speech recognition systems may 
discriminate against certain groups but it has included remediations that will make it 
easier for individuals to speak to a human operator. 

8.3. The issues caused by missing and uncleansed data in Active Directory affect all callers 
whether they are served automatically or by a human operator. This could be indirectly 
discriminatory as they can prevent people reaching the services they need. 

8.4. Any forthcoming decisions flagged in this report will take into account equalities 
impacts in accordance with LBL’s policies and procedures. 

9. Climate change and environmental implications 

9.1. Not applicable 

10. Crime and disorder implications 

10.1. No specific implications other than those included in the body of this report 

11. Health and wellbeing implications  

11.1. No specific implications other than those included in the body of this report 

12. Report author and contact 

Murray James – murray.james@lewisham.gov.uk 

 

Page 48

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
mailto:murray.james@lewisham.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2021
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Future Lewisham: A Greener Future / Update on Lewisham's Climate Emergency Action Plan
	4 Update on Improving the Resident Experience
	Item4_Appendix B _Automated Telephone System Report301121


